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1. Overview
In response to numerous requests for guidance from governmental entities and businesses that are impacted by the new State Finance Law, these Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) have been developed as model guidelines with the intent that the guidance provided in the FAQs will be revised, updated and supplemented, as appropriate.  The reader is urged to periodically review these materials to determine if additional materials have been posted that may be relevant to its procurement related activities. The FAQs can be found on the Office of General Services website at www.ogs.state.ny.us.
Chapter 1 of the Laws of 2005, as amended by Chapter 596 of the Laws of 2005, establishes significant changes to the development of procurement contracts with governmental entities.  
In 2003, Governor Pataki issued Executive Order Number 127 Providing for Additional State Procurement Disclosure (“EO 127”), to increase disclosure requirements for persons and organizations contacting State government about procurement contracts and real estate transactions.  It requires state agencies and certain public authorities to collect and record information from contractors seeking a procurement contract, and those who advocate on behalf of the contractors to influence procurement contracts.   The goal of EO 127 is to enhance public confidence in the State’s procurement process by making available to the public information pertaining to the lobbying efforts of those seeking state contracts from state agencies and certain public authorities.

Chapter 1 of the Laws of 2005 expands upon EO 127 and the former lobbying statute.  Among other things, the new law:

· makes the lobbying law applicable to attempts to influence procurement contracts once the procurement process has been commenced by a state agency, unified court system, state legislature, public authority, certain industrial development agencies and local benefit corporations;

· requires the above mentioned governmental entities to record all contacts made by lobbyists and contractors about a governmental procurement so that the public knows who is contacting governmental entities about procurements;

· requires governmental entities to designate persons who generally may be the only staff contacted relative to the governmental procurement by that entity in a restricted period;

· authorizes the Temporary State Commission on Lobbying to impose fines and penalties against persons/organizations engaging in impermissible contacts about a governmental procurement and provides for the debarment of repeat violators;

· directs the Office of General Services to disclose and maintain a list of non-responsible bidders pursuant to this new law and those who have been debarred and publish such list on its website;

· requires the timely disclosure of accurate and complete information from offerers with respect to determinations of non-responsibility and debarment; 

· expands the definition of lobbying to include attempts to influence gubernatorial or local Executive Orders, Tribal–State Agreements, and procurement contracts;

· modifies the governance of the Temporary State Commission on Lobbying;

· provides that opinions of the Commission shall be binding only on the person to whom such opinion is rendered;

· increases the monetary threshold which triggers a lobbyists obligations under the Lobbying Act from $2,000 to $5,000; and 
· establishes the Advisory Council on Procurement Lobbying.
Generally speaking, two related aspects of procurements were amended:  (i) activities by the business and lobbying community seeking procurement contracts (through amendments to the Legislative Law) and (ii) activities involving governmental agencies establishing procurement contracts (through amendments to the State Finance Law).  
Additionally, a new section 1-t was added to the Legislative Law establishing an Advisory Council on Procurement Lobbying (Advisory Council).  This Advisory Council is authorized to establish the following model guidelines regarding the restrictions on contacts during the procurement process for use by governmental entities (see Legislative Law §1-t (e) and State Finance Law §139-j).  In an effort to facilitate compliance by governmental entities, the Advisory Council has and will  prepare model forms and language that can be used to meet the obligations imposed by State Finance Law §139-k, Disclosure of Contacts and Responsibility of Offerers.  Sections 139-j and 139-k are collectively referred to as “new State Finance Law.”
The new State Finance Law sections establish newly defined terms that are critical to the understanding of the requirements.  For the reader’s convenience, these defined terms are identified through the use of initial capital letters.  It is strongly recommended that the reader develop a working understanding of these defined terms.  
It should be noted that while this Advisory Council is charged with the responsibility of providing advice to the New York Temporary State Commission on Lobbying (Lobbying Commission) regarding procurement lobbying, the Lobbying Commission retains full responsibility for the interpretation, administration and enforcement of the Lobbying Act established by Article 1-A of the Legislative Law (see Legislative Law §1-t (c) and §1-d).  Accordingly, questions regarding the registration and operation of the Lobbying Act should be directed to the Lobbying Commission.
2. 

Additional Help
2.1

Who can I talk to or contact if I need help?

A:
The Advisory Council on Procurement Lobbying has designated the Office of General Services to serve as its secretariat and staff.  Please contact the Office of General Services at the following address for additional help regarding State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k. Please also send any questions or comments you may have regarding the Advisory Council on Procurement Lobbying and its responsibilities and guidance to the Office of General Services:
Office of General Services

Legal Services 

41st Floor

Tower Building

G.N.A.R. Empire State Plaza

Albany, New York 12242-0001

e-mail:  LegalServicesWeb@ogs.state.ny.us 
Telephone:  (518) 474-5607
B:
The New York Temporary State Commission on Lobbying (Lobbying Commission) is responsible for the interpretation, administration and enforcement of the Lobbying Act as codified in the New York State Legislative Law.  Please contact the Lobbying Commission at the following address for help regarding registration and lobbying requirements under the Legislative Law:
New York State Temporary Commission on Lobbying 
Two Empire State Plaza, Suite 1701

Albany, NY  12223-1254

Facsimile (518) 474-7126
e-mail: lobcom@attglobal.net
Telephone (518) 474-7126
3. 

Scope of application of State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k
3.1

Who is covered by the new State Finance Law provisions?

A:
The following Governmental Entities are required to comply with the new State Finance Law provisions when conducting Governmental Procurements:

a.
State Agencies (departments, boards, bureaus, commissions, divisions, offices, councils, committees and officers of the state including those which are temporary);
b.
NYS Senate and Assembly;
c.
Unified Court System;
d.
Public Authorities and Public Benefit Corporations and any subsidiary or affiliate thereof;
e.
Industrial development agencies in jurisdictions with a population of 50,000 or more; and
f.
Local public benefit corporations.

See State Finance Law §139-j (1) (a).  The law also covers individuals and entities and /or their employees or other representatives who desire to contact a Governmental Entity about a Governmental Procurement.  
3.2

Is Executive Order 127 still in effect?

A:
Yes.  As of the release of these FAQs, the Governor has not rescinded EO 127.  Therefore, state agencies and public authorities who are subject to EO 127 are advised to comply with EO 127 in conjunction with the provisions under State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k.
3.3

How do the new State Finance Law provisions affect the procurement 
laws that govern the procurement processes of local governmental 
entities such as cities, towns and counties?

A: Neither State Finance Law §139-j nor §139-k changes the procurement laws of governmental entities such as cities, towns and counties.  Section §139-j of the State Finance Law imposes restrictions on Contacts with a Governmental Entity during the Restricted Period of a Governmental Procurement.  Governmental Entity, in turn, includes “a municipal agency, as that term is defined in paragraph (ii) of subdivision (s) of section one-c of the legislative law.”  See State Finance Law §139-j (1)(a)(6).  Such a “municipal agency” consists of “an industrial development agency, located in a jurisdictional subdivision of the state with a population of more than fifty thousand, or local public benefit corporation, as that term is defined in section sixty-six of the general construction law.”  See Legislative Law §1-c(s).  Thus, the new State Finance Law provisions do not directly affect local governmental entities such as cities, towns and counties.


The new Lobbying Act provisions do, however, apply to lobbying of a broader category of municipal agencies, defined in paragraph (i) of subdivision (s) of section 1-c of the Legislative Law to include any department, board, bureau, commission, division, office, council, committee or officer of a municipality, whether permanent or temporary, in addition to any industrial development agency and local public benefit corporation, as defined in paragraph (ii) of the same subdivision and described above.  See Legislative Law §1-c(s).
3.4

What is meant by the term “Offerer”?

A:
“Offerer” is a term defined in State Finance Law.  It refers to the individual or entity, or any employee, agent or consultant or person acting on behalf of such individual or entity, that contacts a Governmental Entity about a Governmental Procurement during the Restricted Period of such Governmental Procurement.  See State Finance Law §§139-j (1) (h) and 139-k (1) (h).
4.

Kinds of Transactions Covered by State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k
4.1

What kinds of transactions are covered by State Finance Law §§139-j 
and 139-k?

A:
In general, these provisions apply to every Governmental Procurement involving an estimated annualized expenditure in excess of $15,000 for:
- commodity;
- service;
- technology;
- public work; 

- construction; 

- Revenue Contract as defined in State Finance Law §139-j(1)(i); 

- the purchase, sale or lease of real property; or

- the acquisition or granting of other interest in real property.

See State Finance Law §§139-j(1)(e) and 139-j(1)(g).
4.2

Are contracts involving an estimated annualized expenditure under 
$15,000 covered?

A:
No, these smaller value contracts are not covered by the requirements of State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k.
4.3

What kinds of contracts are not subject to the new State Finance Law 
requirements?
A:
The following are excluded from the definition of “procurement contracts:”  
-
Contracts or other agreements for an article of procurement involving an annualized expenditure of $15,000 or less; 

-
Grants; 

-
Contracts covered by the Article 11-B of the State Finance Law, Prompt Contracting Law (i.e., any contract providing for a payment under a program appropriation to a not-for-profit organization)

-
Intergovernmental agreements; 

-
Railroad and utility force accounts, 

-
Utility relocation project agreements or orders; and 

-
Eminent domain transactions.  

See Legislative Law §1-c(r), SFL §139-j(1)(g), and SFL §139-k(1)(g).

4.4

Do §§139-j and 139-k of the new State Finance Law provisions apply to 
the sale of real property by a Governmental Entity?
A:
Yes.  The law applies to the purchase or sale of real property by a Governmental Entity.  It also applies to purchases or sales of real property interests, such as a lease or an easement, by a Governmental Entity.  See State Finance Law §139-j(1)(b).
4.5

Do the new State Finance Law provisions apply to real estate 
transactions?

A:
Yes.  The law applies to the purchase, sale or lease of real property, or an acquisition or granting of other interest in real property.

4.6

How do the new State Finance Law provisions apply to real estate 
transactions? 

A:
The new State Finance Law provisions apply to a real estate transaction at the point in time when the Governmental Entity provides written documentation evidencing its decision or determination to proceed with a real estate transaction which includes the purchase, sale, or lease of real property, and also includes the acquisition or granting of other interest in real property.  See State Finance Law §139-j (1) (b).

4.7

Do the restrictions on Contacts during the procurement process apply 
to construction contracts?

A:
Yes, construction contracts with a value in excess of $15,000 are subject to the restrictions on Contacts.  See State Finance Law §139-j (1) (b).  
4.8

What contacts does the new law allow between Offerers and public 
officials and court officials during the preparation of specifications, bid 
documents, Requests for Proposals (RFPs), Invitations for Bids (IFBs), 
or other solicitations, prior to the Restricted Period defined in the 
statute?

A:
The new State Finance Law states that contacts between the Governmental Entity (public officials and court officials included) and an Offerer are restricted at the point in time when the Governmental Entity issues its first written document soliciting a response from Offerers which is intended to result in a Procurement Contract.  See State Finance Law §139-j(1) (f).   As such, the new law does not restrict contacts between Offerers and the Governmental Entity prior to the Restricted Period of a Governmental Procurement.  Therefore, communications between Offerers and the Governmental Entity during the preparation of specifications, bid documents, RFPs, IFBs, are not governed by State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k.  Communications at this stage, however, are governed by the provisions set forth at State Finance Law §§163 and 163-a and other applicable law, including registration and reporting requirements of the Lobbying Act.

It is also important to note here that the new law specifically allows Offerers and a Governmental Entity to communicate prior to the Restricted Period in the form of a Request for Information (RFI) by the Governmental Entity and the response thereto by the Offerer.  RFIs are generally used as a means to collect information upon which to base a decision by a Governmental Entity to proceed with a Governmental Procurement; they are not a tool employed to award a Procurement Contract.
4.9

Are there permissible Contacts during the Restricted Period?

A:
Yes.  In general, Contacts must  be made to the designated person or persons for the Governmental Procurement, but the following constitute exceptions to this requirement:
-
Submission of a bid, proposal or response for a procurement contract;

-
Submission of written questions when written responses are to be provided to all Offerers;

-
Participation in a pre-bid conference;

-
Complaints by an Offerer to office of general counsel where the designated person for the procurement contract of the Governmental Entity fails to respond in a timely matter;

-
Negotiations with the Governmental Entity after a tentative award;

-
Debriefings about a procurement contract award; and

-
Filing of written disputes in administrative hearings, judicial proceedings and to the attorney general, inspector general, district attorney or state comptroller.

Impermissible Contact with a Governmental Entity occurs when the Offerer contacts a person in a Governmental Entity who is not the designated contact person for the Governmental Procurement in an attempt to influence that Governmental Procurement.  For example, an Offerer contacts a person, other than the designated person, in the Governmental Entity and engages in communication which a reasonable person would infer was intended to influence the Governmental Procurement.  This Contact with the Governmental Entity is not permitted under the law and is required to be recorded by the person contacted, reported and made a part of the procurement record.  See State Finance Law §139-j (3). 
4.10
Do §§ 139-j and 139-k of the State Finance Law apply to sole and single 
source contracts?

A:
Yes.  The requirements would be triggered when a Governmental Entity solicits a response from an Offerer with regard to a Procurement Contract, including single and sole source contracts.  An example would be requesting a statement of work from the single or sole source.
4.11
When does the Restricted Period begin in instances where there is no 
written notification such as in Governmental Procurements involving 
single and sole source contracts?
A:
In the case of single and sole source contracts, in which Governmental Entities typically do not initiate the bid process with a RFP or IFB, the Restricted Period will begin with the earliest method used by that Governmental Entity to solicit a response from Offerers intending to result in a procurement contract.  See State Finance Law §139-j (1)(f).
4.12
If a contract is supplemented, does this require providing vendors with 
notice of the Restricted Period?

A:
Amendments that are authorized and payable under the terms of the Procurement Contract as it was finally awarded or approved by the comptroller are not subject to the Restricted Period.  Supplements to a contract incorporating other amendments, renewals, extensions or any other material change in the Procurement Contract resulting in a financial benefit to the Offerer would be subject to the Restricted Period. See State Finance Law §§139-j(1)(e) and 139-k(1)(e).
4.13
When do these requirements apply?

A:
The requirements apply when a Governmental Entity issues a written notice, advertisement or solicitation of a request for proposal, invitation for bids, or solicitation of proposals, or any other method for soliciting a response from Offerers with regard to a Procurement Contract.  See State Finance Law §§ 139-j (1) (f) and § 139-k (1)(f).
4.14
Are the new obligations of State Finance Law activated by:

A.
Receipt of advertising material?

A:
In general, the receipt of advertising material will not trigger the obligations under the State Finance Law because it does not appear that a reasonable person would infer that this communication is intended to influence the Governmental Procurement.  
B. Intra-agency communications?

A:
No, the new State Finance Law is not activated by intra-agency communications.  These provisions govern Contacts by Offerers, which is defined to mean both the individual or entity seeking the procurement contract and an individual or entity “acting on behalf” of the entity seeking the Procurement Contract.  See State Finance Law §139-j(1)(h).
C. A response by a contractor to Request for Information (RFI) issued by a Governmental Entity? 

A:
No, responding to a RFI is not a triggering activity under the new law and thus it is permissible for an Offerer to contact a Governmental Entity in this regard without triggering the obligations under the law.  An RFI, by design, is a tool used to collect information about possible options and solutions available in the market place.   
D. Do the new State Finance Law provisions apply to a telephone conversation?

A:
Yes, the obligations under the law are activated when an Offerer or anyone working on behalf of the Offerer has any oral, written, or electronic communication with a Governmental Entity which a reasonable person would believe is intended to influence the Governmental Procurement.  See State Finance Law§139-j (1)(c).
E. Must there be financial interest present for there to be an attempt to influence the procurement process?

A:
No.  Simply contacting the Governmental Entity in a manner that a reasonable person would infer constitutes an attempt to influence the procurement during the Restricted Period triggers the law.  A financial interest is not necessary for the law to be activated.  Once the Governmental Entity provides written documentation evidencing its decision or determination to proceed with a procurement, the law is activated and a record is required to be made of the identity of each person or organization that attempts to influence the procurement process regardless of whether such person or organization has a financial interest in the procurement.  See State Finance Law §§139-j (1) (f), 139-k (4) and 139-k (1)(f).
5.

What Actions are Required
5.1

What does the new State Finance Law require of Governmental Entities? 

A:
The law requires a Governmental Entity to collect and record certain information pertaining to those who contact it in an attempt to influence a Governmental Procurement and restricts the time frame and manner in which the business community may contact a Governmental Entity with regard to attempting to influence a Governmental Procurement.  A Governmental Entity must collect, record, report, if applicable, and maintain specific information about Contacts made during the Restricted Period.  Under the law, the business community is obligated to make only permissible Contacts during the Restricted Period and may only Contact those who are designated by the Governmental Entity regarding a procurement.
5.2

What does the new State Finance Law require of the business 



community?

A:
Under the law, the business community is obligated to make only permissible contacts during the Restricted Period and may only contact those who are designated by the Governmental Entity regarding a Governmental Procurement.  The business community also has a duty to disclose past findings of non-responsibility.  See State Finance Law §§139-j (10) and 139-k (4).
5.3

Once it has been determined that State Finance Law §§ 139-j and 139-k 
applies, what should a Governmental Entity do?

A.
Require Disclosure

A:
The State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k requires a Governmental Entity to collect certain information about a person or organization contacting it about a Governmental Procurement in attempts to influence such procurement during the Restricted Period.  In addition, a Governmental Entity must obtain information from Offerers about any findings of non-responsibility made within the previous four years by any Governmental Entity and if the finding of non-responsibility was due to (1) engaging in impermissible Contacts with a Governmental Entity or (2) the intentional provision of false or incomplete information to a Governmental Entity.  See State Finance Law§139-k (2).

It is the responsibility of the Governmental Entity to request such information in its solicitation or initial bid documents.   
B. Record keeping by Governmental Entity

A:
Under the State Finance Law §139-k, it is recognized that a Governmental Entity may be contacted by an individual or entity that reasonably appears to be attempting to influence the procurement during the Restricted Period.  If the Governmental Entity is contacted, it must record the contact, obtaining the following specific information for each contact: 

Information to be obtained consists of: 

-
Name of Person and Organization

-
Address 

-
Telephone Number 

-
Place of Principal Employment 

-
Occupation

-
Record Whether the Person/Organization Making the Contact was the Offerer or was Retained, Employed or Designated by or on behalf of the Offerer to appear before or contact the Governmental Procurement.

See State Finance Law §139-k (4).


These records of Contact shall be included in the procurement record for the Procurement Contract.

Good practice by a Governmental Entity will include a written process for consistent record keeping and appropriate referral if someone other than the designated contacts(s) is contacted during the Restricted Period.
C. Determination of responsibility by a Governmental Entity
A:
The State Finance Law requires a Governmental Entity to make a determination of responsibility before awarding a Procurement Contract to an Offerer.  In addition to responsibility factors such as financial and organizational capacity, legal authority, integrity, and past performance, the new provisions of the State Finance Law now require Governmental Entities to consider in responsibility determinations any violation of the permissible Contact requirements of State Finance Law § 139-j and the disclosure requirements of State Finance Law § 139-k.  There must be a determination of non-responsibility if it is found that the Offerer knowingly and willfully made an impermissible Contact or failed to timely disclose accurate and complete information or otherwise cooperate in providing the information required by State Finance Law §139-k.   See State Finance Law §§ 139-k (2), (3) and (7).

A Governmental Entity is precluded from awarding a Procurement Contract to an Offerer that has been determined to be non-responsible because of a knowing and willful violation of the prohibitions of State Finance Law § 139-j against impermissible Contacts during the Restricted Period unless the Governmental Entity finds that the award of the Procurement Contract to the Offerer is necessary to protect public property or public health safety, and that the Offerer is the only source capable of supplying the required Article of Procurement within the necessary timeframe.  See State Finance Law §§139-j (10)(b) and 139-k(3).

In addition, refer to other FAQs herein regarding the obligations of Governmental Entities under the State Finance Law.
5.4

How does State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k impact potential 
Offerers?

A:
Under the law, subject to the exceptions set forth in §139-j (3) of the State Finance Law,an Offerer or his/her representative is prohibited from contacting anyone other than the designated contact persons at the Governmental Entity with regard to the Governmental Procurement during the Restricted Period.  Offerers are also required to disclose whether there has been a finding of non-responsibility with regard to their compliance under the law within the past four years.  Furthermore, an Offerer must affirm that they understand and agree to comply with a Governmental Entity’s procedures relating to permissible Contacts during a Governmental Procurement and certify that all information provided to the procuring Governmental Entity is complete, true and accurate.  See State Finance Law §139-j (6) (b), §139-k (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6).
5.5

Are there any communications that do not have to be recorded?

A:
Yes.  Communications received by a Governmental Entity from legislative staff or members of the state legislature when the subject Governmental Entity is not the state legislature and he or she is acting in their official capacity are not considered “Contacts” during the Restricted Period and thus shall not be recorded pursuant to this new law.  Also, communications that a reasonable person would infer are not intended to influence a Governmental Procurement do not have to be recorded.  See State Finance Law §139-j (6).
6.

When do the new State Finance Law provisions take effect?
6.1

When do §§139-j and 139-k of the State Finance Law take effect?

A:
Chapter 1 of the Laws of 2005 has a multi-part effective date.  State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k take effect on January 1, 2006.  However, in accordance with section 16 of Chapter 1 of the Laws of 2005, Procurement Contracts for which bid solicitations have been issued prior to the effective date of the act shall be awarded pursuant to the provisions of law in effect at the time of issuance.
7.

Designated Contacts
7.1

What is the definition of “Contacts”? 
A:
Contacts are defined as any oral, written or electronic communication with the Governmental Entity under circumstances where a reasonable person would infer that the communication was intended to influence the Governmental Procurement.  See State Finance Law §139-j (1) (c).
7.2

Do the persons designated by Governmental Entities to be contacted by 
Offerers regarding Governmental Procurements have to have 
knowledge of the specifications or other technical requirements of the 
procurement?

A:
The statute includes no such requirement.  However, best practices dictate that the contact person or persons have as much of such technical knowledge as possible.
7.3

Are all contacts that a reasonable person would infer are intended to 
influence a Governmental Procurement and made during the “Restricted 
Period” required to be recorded and placed in the Procurement Record, 
or only contacts made to persons other than persons designated by the 
Governmental Entity as the contact persons for the procurement?

A:
All written or oral communications that a reasonable person would infer are intended to influence the procurement and made during the Restricted Period are “Contacts” as defined by the statute and must be recorded and placed in the Procurement Record regardless of to whom they were directed. See State Finance Law §139-k (4).
7.4

Can a Governmental Entity have more than one contact person?

A:
Yes, in fact, the law does not specify the number of contact persons that can be designated.  See State Finance Law §139-j (2) (a).
7.5

Who should the contact person be?

A:
The Governmental Entity must make the appropriate designation under §139-j (2) (a) of the State Finance Law.  Best practices dictates that the designated person or persons be informed about the Governmental Procurement.
7.6

What records does the Governmental Entity have to maintain?

A:
During the Restricted Period, the Governmental Entity must maintain a Procurement Record detailing any oral, written or electronic communication which is intended to influence any Governmental Procurement of a Governmental Entity.  The Procurement Record must contain the following information:

a.
Name, address, telephone number, place of principal employment and occupation of the person or organization making the Contact (State Finance Law §139-k (4)).
b.
Whether the person or organization making the Contact was the Offerer or a lobbyist (State Finance Law §139-k (4)).
c.
If applicable, a statement providing the basis for  termination of a procurement contract award due to the failure of the Offerer to provide a certification that all information provided relating to the requirements of State Finance Law §139-k are complete, true and accurate (State Finance Law §139-k (5)).
d.
A statement describing the basis for any award to an Offerer in which the Governmental Entity determines to be non-responsible or have failed to disclose a previous determination of non-responsibility (State Finance Law §139-j (10) (b)).
7.7

What information must be obtained from the person making the 
Contact?

A:
The Governmental Entity must obtain the following information from the person making the Contact:

a.
Name, address, telephone number, place of principal employment and occupation of the person or organization making the Contact (State Finance Law §139-k (4)).
b.
Whether the person or organization making the Contact was the Offerer or was retained, employed or designated by or on behalf of the Offerer or a lobbyist (State Finance Law §139-k (4)).
7.8

How do you track multiple calls from one person?  Separate records or 
running log? 

A:
There are no uniform directions on this question, so a Governmental Entity is free to decide how to handle multiple calls from one person.  The Governmental Entity may choose to use separate records, a running log or another method as outlined in the policy and procedures of such Governmental Entity.
8.

Restricted Period and Restricted Contacts
8.1

When does the Restricted Period begin?

A:
The Restricted Period begins with the earliest written notice, advertisement or solicitation of a request for proposal, invitation for bids, or solicitation of proposals, or any other method for soliciting a response from Offerers with regard to a Procurement Contract.  See State Finance Law §§139-j (1) (f) and 139-k (1)(f).
8.2

When does the Restricted Period end?

A:
The Restricted Period ends with the final contract award and approval by the Governmental Entity and if applicable, approval by the state comptroller. State Finance Law §§139-j (1) (f) and 139-k(1) (f).  
8.3

During the Restricted Period, does the new law place limitations on 
what can be discussed during a pre-bid conference?
A:
The law allows Contacts during a pre-bid conference provided for in a request for proposals, invitation for bids, or any other method for soliciting a response from Offerers intending to result in a procurement contract.  See State Finance Law §139-j (3) (a) (3).  
8.4

What can a Governmental Entity do if it needs further information from 
the industry during the Restricted Period to clarify a question posed?

A:
A Governmental Entity’s designated staff is authorized to seek out information from bidders or potential bidders to explain, clarify or demonstrate the qualities, characteristics, or advantages of an Article of Procurement.   
8.5

Should permissible Contacts be recorded and placed in the 
Procurement Record?

A:
Yes.  Governmental Entities are advised to record and place in the Procurement record any Contact, whether permissible or impermissible, made during the Restricted Period.  See State Finance Law §139-j (4). 
8.6

During a Restricted Period, State Finance Law §139-j(3) requires that an 
Offerer only communicate with the person or persons designated by the 
procuring Governmental Entity.  It continues by stating that "the 
following contacts are exempted from the provisions of this paragraph."  
What does this exemption mean? 
A:
Under State Finance Law section 139-j(3)and (4), during the Restricted Period an Offerer is generally only permitted to Contact the procuring Governmental Entity's Designated Contact(s).  Section 139-j(3)(a)(1-7) permits an Offerer to contact additional state employees under certain specified circumstances.  These circumstances are generally reflective of typical steps in a procurement (such as the submission of a proposal or the negotiation of a contract after a tentative award) or of recognized roles provided by other governmental entities during the procurement (such as the filing of a judicial action challenging a procurement decision).  Thus, an Offerer may Contact someone other than the Designated Contact(s) if the communications falls within one of the seven specified topic areas and only if the communications falls within the specified topic area.  Please click here to see the listing of seven specified topic areas.
9.

Responsibility Determinations, Non-responsibility and Debarment

9.1

What is a determination of responsibility?
A:
The State Finance Law requires a certain Governmental Entities to make a determination of responsibility before awarding a Procurement Contract.  The determination must be based on traditional responsibility factors such as financial and organizational capacity, legal authority, integrity, and past performance.  The new provisions of the State Finance Law now additionally require Governmental Entities to consider in responsibility determinations any violations of the permissible Contact requirements of State Finance Law § 139-j and the disclosure requirements of State Finance Law § 139-k.    There must be a determination of non-responsibility if it is found that the Offerer made an impermissible contact or failed to timely disclose accurate and complete information or otherwise cooperate in providing the information required by State Finance Law § 139-k. Often when a procuring entity receives information that calls into question one or more attributes of responsibility, a due process review is undertaken with diligent inquiry into the facts resulting in a determination for the record.  See State Finance Law §139-j (7).
9.2

Does the new law change the responsibility determination 
requirements?
A:
Yes, the new law establishes several requirements.  As part of the procurement process, the Offerer must disclose any prior determination of non-responsibility within the last four years if the basis of such determination was a violation of State Finance Law §139-j or the intentional provision of false or incomplete information to a Governmental Entity.  There must be a determination of non-responsibility if it is found that the Offerer willfully and knowingly made an impermissible Contact or failed to timely disclose accurate and complete information or otherwise cooperate in providing the information required by State Finance Law § 139-k.  See State Finance Law §139-j (2), (3), (4), and (10).


For further help and information on the issue of responsibility and making responsibility determinations, refer to the New York State Procurement Bulletin entitled "Best Practices - Determining Vendor Responsibility", at www.ogs.state.ny.us and “Vendor Responsibility: Standards, Procedures, and Documentation Requirements,” at www.osc.state.ny.us/agencies/gbull/g221.htm.

Specific factors to be considered when determining whether an Offerer has failed to timely disclose accurate and complete information or otherwise cooperate in the implementation of the State Finance Law include, but are not limited to: 

-
Has the Offerer made statements indicating an intentional failure to provide information or a refusal to provide information? 

-
Has the Offerer refused to provide information? 

-
Has the Offerer repeatedly omitted required information? 

-
Has the Offerer engaged in one or more flagrant omissions of the required information? 

-
Has the Offerer engaged in any impermissible Contacts with the Governmental Entity during the Restricted Period of a Governmental Procurement?


See State Finance Law §139-j (10).

9.3

Can an Offerer be debarred for violations of §§139-j and 139-k of the 
State Finance Law?

A:
Yes, an offerer can be debarred for 4 years on account of a second violation within a 4-year period of the permissible contact requirements of State Finance Law §139-j. See State Finance Law §139-j (10) (b).   
9.4

How will another Governmental Entity learn whether a vendor has been 
deemed non-responsible or debarred?

A:
Under the law, a Governmental Entity must notify the Office of General Services (OGS) of determinations of non-responsibility or debarment.  OGS is directed to keep a list of debarred vendors and shall make such list available to the public and publish such list on its website.  See State Finance Law §139-j (10) (b).
10.
Legislative Contacts
10.1
Are contacts with the Legislature permitted during the Restricted 
Period?

A:
Yes, an Offerer may communicate with a member of the state legislature or legislative staff about a Governmental Procurement being conducted by a Governmental Entity other than the state legislature.  In addition, a member of the state legislature or legislative staff may contact a Governmental Entity about a Governmental Procurement being conducted by a Governmental Entity other than the state legislature as long as that public official or staff member is acting in their official capacity.  See State Finance Law §139-j (4).  Such contacts shall not be recorded by the Governmental Entity pursuant to the new State Finance Law.
10.2
Are there any limitations on legislative contacts?

A:
Yes, contacts about Governmental Procurements are not allowed by members of the legislature or their staff unless he or she is a designated contact and the procuring Governmental Entity is the State Legislature.  A member of the Legislature or their staff must also be acting in their official capacity if they seek to contact a Governmental Entity about a Governmental Procurement.  See State Finance Law §139-j (4).
11.
Ethics Law

11.1
How do the provisions of the new State Finance Law work with the 
ethics provisions of the Public Officers Law?

A:
The provisions of the new State Finance Law are in addition to those obligations already provided in the Public Officers Law as it relates to Governmental Procurements.  Specifically, under the new State Finance Law provisions, all members, officers or employees of a Governmental Entity have the ethical obligation to immediately notify the ethics officer, inspector general, or other official of the procuring Governmental Entity regarding instances of violations by an Offerer.  In other words, this ethical obligation arises when a member, officer or employee of the Governmental Entity becomes aware that an Offerer has Contacted someone at the Governmental Entity other than the designated contact person or a permissible contact or has attempted to improperly influence a public officer or employee by unethical means prohibited by the Public Officers Law, such as a gift intended to influence or reward official action.  See State Finance Law §139-j (2) (b) and (8). By definition, a Contact is a communication with a Governmental Entity under circumstances where a reasonable person would infer that the communication was intended to influence the Governmental Procurement.
12.
Enforcement and Violations
12.1
What should an employee do if s/he becomes aware that an Offerer has 
violated the requirements regarding permissible contacts under State 
Finance Law §139-j (3)?

A.
Employee of the procuring Governmental Entity?

A:
If it is the employee of the procuring Governmental Entity, such employee should immediately notify the ethics officer, inspector general (if any) or the official responsible for conducting such investigations.  See State Finance Law §139-j (8).
B.
Employee of a Governmental Entity other than procuring Governmental Entity?
A:
If it is an employee of a Governmental Entity other than the procuring Governmental Entity, such employee should immediately notify the ethics officer, inspector general (if any) or the official responsible for conducting such investigations where such employee works.
12.2
How should a Governmental Entity address an allegation of violation of 
the permissible contact provision?
A:
A Governmental Entity is required to establish a process for review by its ethics officer, inspector general (if any), or other responsible official.  See State Finance Law §139-j (9) and (10).  In accordance with State Finance Law §139-j (10), the person responsible for reviewing or investigating such matters shall immediately investigate the allegation and if sufficient cause exists to believe that the allegation is true, the Governmental Entity shall give the Offerer reasonable notice that the investigation is ongoing and an opportunity to be heard.  
12.3
Who should be involved with compliance with the new State Finance 
Law?

A:
In addition to the person(s) the Governmental Entity is required to designate as a contact regarding a Governmental Procurement, staff of a Governmental Entity whose responsibilities include purchasing, bidding, contracting, and real estate transactions should be involved with compliance with the law.  Compliance will also be required from executive to senior management, legal and ethics staff and staff dealing with financial administration of the Governmental Entity.
12.4
What action does a Governmental Entity need to take if there is failure 
to comply with the new State Finance Law by an officer or employee?

A:
If it is found that an officer or employee violated the statute, guidelines and procedures regarding implementation of the law, the ethics officer, inspector general, or any other official of the procuring Governmental Entity responsible for reviewing or investigating such matters shall report such instances of violation to the Governmental Entity’s head.  See State Finance Law §139-j (10) (c).  
12.5
If a vendor or contractor violates the State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-
k, what are the penalties?

A:
If it is found that an Offerer has knowingly and willfully violated State Finance Law §139-j (3), the Offerer and any of its subsidiaries, related or successor entity will be determined to be a non-responsible bidder and shall not be awarded the contract. A subsequent finding of non-responsibility by the vendor or contractor within fours years of a prior determination of non-responsibility results in the vendor or contractor being ineligible to submit a proposal on or be awarded any procurement contract for four years from the date of the second finding of non-responsibility.  See State Finance Law §139-j (10) (b).  

12.6
Can a vendor or contractor be debarred for violations of §§ 139-j or 139-
k of the State Finance Law?

A:
Yes, a vendor or contractor can be debarred for violations of the new State Finance Law if the vendor or contractor is determined to be a non-responsible bidder after a previous determination within four years.  See State Finance Law §139-j (10) (b).  
13.
Model Language and Forms
13.1
Are there forms I can use to make compliance easier?

A:
Yes, the Advisory Council on Procurement Lobbying has and will be developing and making available model forms and language to facilitate compliance by a Government Entity with the requirements of the new State Finance Law.  Please click here to see the listing of model language and forms.
14.
Miscellaneous 
14.1
Can you maintain contact records only in an electronic format?  

A:
While the law does not specify the format in which the contact record should be kept, it does require that the record be maintained as part of the procurement record.
14.2
Are the contact records subject to the Freedom of Information Law 
(FOIL)?

A:
Yes.  The Governmental Entity will need to make a determination whether any of the information falls within the exceptions set forth in Public Officers Law §87.

14.3
What is a procurement record?

A:
The term procurement record is commonly understood to refer to that file that is made and maintained by a Governmental Entity that documents the series of decisions made and approaches taken when conducting a procurement.  For the purposes of the new State Finance Law, the procurement record shall include a record of Contacts about a particular Procurement Contract and a  determination of vendor responsibility in the procurement process.  See State Finance Law §139-k (4).
14.4
How long must these records be retained?

A:
The law does not specify a timeframe for retaining the records, however, these records should be treated as contract files and retained in accordance with the requirements of the Arts and Cultural Affairs Law as set forth in the General Retention and Disposition Schedule for New York State Government Records or other applicable law.  Generally speaking, such contract files should be retained for a period of six years after the termination of the contract or until there is no further legal need for the records. 
14.5
How is this information made accessible to the public?

A:
The record of contacts and other related documents are “records” under the Freedom of Information Law.  Access to these records is provided in accordance with the Freedom of Information Law.  
14.6
Should a Governmental Entity develop a written policy or guidelines 
implementing the new State Finance Law?

A:
Yes.  Every Governmental Entity must adopt written policies and guidelines outlining the implementation of State Finance Law §§139-j and 139-k.  In addition, every Governmental Entity must incorporate a summary of the policy and prohibitions of the law as well as include copies of rules, regulations and the Governmental Entity’s guidelines and procedures regarding permissible contacts during a Governmental Procurement into their solicitation of proposals or bid documents or specifications for each Procurement Contract.  See State Finance Law § 139-j (6) (a).
14.7
Does §139-j or §139-k of the State Finance Law specify procedures for 
disciplining employees of a Governmental Entity who violate this law? 
A:
Governmental Entities are required by State Finance Law § 139-j (6) (a) to develop their own policies and procedures regarding Contacts and retain the authority to discipline their own employees for violations.  
14.8
Can a Governmental Entity impose sanctions on Offerers which are 
more severe than the requirements of §§139-j and 139-k of the State 
Finance Law?

A:
The law does not allow Governmental Entities to impose more severe sanctions on offerers than permitted by the non-responsibility and debarment provisions of State Finance Law §§ 139-j and 139-k.
14.9
Does the new law require a centralized collection point or database for 
the records on Contacts?

A:
The new State Finance Law does not require a centralized record collection point.  All contact information must be maintained in the procurement record.  A Governmental Entity must ensure that information recorded by staff is also included in the procurement record for compliance with the new State Finance Law.  Inclusion in the procurement record will also ensure the public may have access to that information.
14.10
If a Governmental Entity finds that a prospective awardee knowingly 
and willfully made impermissible Contacts, should the contract be 
denied?

A:
Yes.  The contract should be denied to a prospective awardee that has been found to have engaged in impermissible Contacts with a Governmental Entity.  However, this determination does not preclude such Governmental Entity or another Governmental Entity from awarding such vendor another Procurement Contract if this denial is the vendor’s first determination of non-responsibility in four years pursuant to §§139-j and 139-k of the State Finance Law. [image: image1][image: image2][image: image3]
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